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The row of three contiguous structures located at 46-50 Fulton Street was likely built in a single cam- 1
paign during the second quarter of the 19th century. 46 Fulton Street (left) is four stories in height,
while 48 and 50 Fulton Street contain five stories

The five-story three-bay brick structure at 90 Fulton Street may have
been constructed during the second quarter of the 19th century 2

Project-ldentified Historic Resources
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Fulton Corridor Revitalization Program

Table 2B-1
Previously Identified Architectural Resources within Project Site and APE
NYCL S/NR- SINR-
Ref No Resource Name Location NYCL Eligible | Listed Eligible
Project Site
1 Fulton-Nassau Historic Roughly bounded by Broadway & X
District Park Row; Nassau, Dutch and
William Street; Ann & Spruce
Streets; and Liberty Street.
2* Former New York Times 41 Park Row (147 Nassau Street) X X
Building
3* Lamppost 77 (wall bracket 41 Park Row (147 Nassau Street) X X
lamp)
4* American Tract Society 150 Nassau Street X
Building
5* Potter Building 38 Park Row (145 Nassau Street) X X
6* Temple Court Building & 3-9 Beekman Street X X
Annex
7* Bennett Building 139 Fulton Street X X
8* Keuffel & Esser Store 127 Fulton Street X X
9 Royal Baking Powder 100 Fulton Street (135-141 William X
Company Street)
10 Royal Insurance Company 150 William Street X X
Building
11 South Street Seaport Roughly bounded by Maiden Lane, X
Historic District & South Pearl, and Dover Streets and the
Street Seaport Historic East River.
District Extension
12 South Street Seaport Roughly bounded by Fletcher, Alley, X
Historic District Pearl, and Dover Streets and the
East River.
APE
13 Fulton Street IRT Station Underground at Fulton Street and X X
Broadway
14 Former Excelsior Power 33-43 Gold Street X X
Company
15 Lamppost 93 33-43 Gold Street (wall bracket X
lamp)
16 Insurance Company of 99-101 John Street X
North America
17 211 Pearl Street Building 211 Pearl Street X
18 213 Pearl Street Building 213 Pearl Street X
19** Schermerhorn Row Block 2-18 Fulton Street; 189-195 Front X X
Street; 159-171 John Street; 91-92
South Street
20** Hickson W. Field Store 170-176 John Street X X
Notes: *Located within the Fulton-Nassau Historic District (S/NR-listed)

Historic District (S/NR-listed)
Refer to Figure 2B-2.

**|_ocated within the South Street Seaport Historic District and Extension (NYCL) and the South Street Seaport
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Chapter 2, Section B: Historic Resources

Table 2B-2
Project-ldentified Architectural Resources within Project Site and APE
Ref
No Resource Name Location
Project Site
A 46-50 Fulton Street Buildings 46-50 Fulton Street
B 90 Fulton Street Building 90 Fulton Street
C Fidelity Building 96 Fulton Street (140 William Street)
D Fulton-Chambers Building 102-104 Fulton Street
APE
E 80 John Street Building 80 John Street
F National Board of Fire Underwriters Building 85 John Street
G 90-100 John Street Building (a.k.a. 20-24 90-100 John Street, 20-24 Gold Street
Gold Street Building)
H 111 John Street Building 111 John Street
I 114-120 John Street Building (a.k.a. 225-235 114-120 John Street, 225-235 Pearl Street
Pearl Street Building)
J 28 Cliff Street Building 28 CIiff Street
K 32 CIiff Street Building 32 CIliff Street
L 84 William Street Building 84 William Street

Notes: Refer to Figure 2B-3.

Seven New York City Landmarks (including one lamppost) in the Fulton-Nassau Historic
District are located in the APE.

Former New York Times Building (S/NR-listed, NYCL) (a.k.a. 41 Park Row; 147 Nassau Street)

Located at the north end of the project site on Nassau Street, the 16-story office building at 41
Park Row was erected for The New York Times in 1888-89 (see Figure 2B-2, Resource 2). It is
one of the last survivors of Newspaper Row, the center of New York City newspaper publishing
from the 1830s to 1920s. Designed by George B. Post in the Richardsonian Romanesque style, it
has a gray Maine granite base with rusticated Indiana limestone blocks on the upper stories. It
originally had a mansard roof with gable dormers, compound colonnettes, roll moldings,
miniature balustrades, foliate reliefs, and gargoyles. In 1904, the Times relocated to Times
Square. The former ground-floor offices were converted to retail use, the mansard roof was
removed, and four new stories were added to the designs of Robert Maynicke in 1903-05. In
1951, the building was acquired by Pace University; offices were converted to classrooms, and
the base of the structure was altered.

Lamppost 77 (S/NR-listed, NYCL)

Lamppost 77, a wall bracket-type lamppost located on 147 Nassau Street, is an example of
ornamental lampposts that were erected in Lower Manhattan in the early 20th century (see
Figure 2B-2, Resource 3). By the late 1880s, the first ornamental lampposts were installed on
Fifth Avenue, between Washington Square Park and 59th Street. Beginning around 1900,
ornamental arc lampposts were designed, and the earliest of this form was the bishop’s crook.
Several variations of this style were produced, but the earliest incorporated a garland on the
fluted shaft, a short ladder rest, and was made from a single iron casting up to the crook section.
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By 1913, wall bracket versions of the bishop’s crook lamppost, like Lamppost 77, were
developed for use on narrow streets and installed on building facades.

American Tract Society Building (S/NR-listed; NYCL) (150 Nassau Street)

Located on the east side of Nassau Street at Spruce Street, 150 Nassau Street was designed by
R.H. Robertson, an architect known for his churches and institutional structures, and completed
in 1895 (see Figure 2B-2, Resource 4). The richly textured building was a speculative venture
for the American Tract Society, a publisher of religious literature. It is 20 stories tall and one of
the earliest extant steel frame skyscrapers in the city. Its granite, brick and terra-cotta facades
have Romanesque and Renaissance-inspired elements, including a picturesque roof tower. The
building has been recently renovated for residential use.

Potter Building (S/NR-listed; NYCL) (38 Park Row, a.k.a. 145 Nassau Street)

Immediately south of the former New York Times Building is an 11-story Queen Anne/neo-
Grec style building designed by Norris G. Starkweather and erected in 1882-86 (see Figure 2B-
2, Resource 5). Commissioned by real estate investor and politician Orlando B. Potter after his
previous building on the site burned, it featured the most advanced fireproofing available, such
as rolled-iron beams, cast iron columns, brick walls, and tile arches for structural support, as
well as brick, terra-cotta, and cast iron in the exterior load-bearing walls. Potter was so
impressed by the extensive terra-cotta provided by the Boston Terra Cotta Company that he
established his own firm—the New York Architectural Terra Cotta Company in Long Island
City. The upper floors of the Potter Building were converted to apartments in 1979-81.

Temple Court Building and Annex (S/NR-listed; NYCL) (3-9 Beekman Street)

This resource consists of two connected structures, one nine stories and one 10 stories, located at
3-9 Beekman Street on the southeast corner at Nassau Street (see Figure 2B-2, Resource 6). The
original Temple Court Building was commissioned by Eugene Kelly. It was designed by
Silliman & Farnsworth and built in 1881-83. The Queen Anne, neo-Grec, and Renaissance
Revival style building has a two-story granite base with red brick, tan Dorchester stone, and
terra-cotta on the upper stories. It is considered to be the earliest surviving, and basically
unaltered, fireproof New York City office building, erected before the era of the skyscraper. The
Annex was designed by James Farnsworth and was constructed for Kelly in 1889-90. Clad in
Irish limestone, it was designed in an arcaded Romanesque Revival style. The structure is
located within the Fulton-Nassau Historic District (S/NR-listed).

Bennett Building (S/NR-listed; NYCL) (139 Fulton Street)

Located at the intersection of Fulton and Nassau Streets, the Bennett Building was originally
constructed in 1872—73, but was enlarged to its present 10-story size in 1892-93 and 1894 (see
Figure 2B-2, Resource 7). It has three fully designed 10-story cast iron facades that face Fulton,
Nassau, and Ann Streets. It is believed to be the tallest cast iron building ever erected. It was
commissioned as a real estate investment by James Gordon Bennett, Jr., publisher of the New
York Herald newspaper. When originally erected, it was a seven-story French Second Empire
structure, designed by Arthur D. Gilman. The original mansard roof was removed and four
stories were added in 1892-93 in a design by James M. Farnsworth that replicated the original
castings. In 1894, Farnsworth designed a 25-foot-wide section on Ann Street.
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Keuffel & Esser Store (S/NR-listed; NYCL) (127 Fulton Street)

This narrow eight-story building stretches through the block to Ann Street (see Figure 2B-2,
Resource 8). It was designed by De Lemos & Cordes and built in 1892-93 for Keuffel & Esser
(K&E). The building housed both a salesroom and the general offices of the firm. Its striking
Fulton Street facade is richly detailed with in the Renaissance Revival style. The two-story, cast
iron storefront has the company name and representations of its products. In the buff brick and
terra-cotta-clad mid-section there is a round-arched, recessed window. The upper section
features a two-story, metal, bay window. K&E was the first American firm solely devoted to
drawing and drafting materials. It played a significant role in technological development in the
United States, both as a leading manufacturer of drafting equipment, surveying instruments, and
related products and as the developer of continually advanced systems until the 1980s. This
building, which remained in use by K&E for nearly seven decades, is one of the best preserved
and most distinguished of the smaller late 19th-cnetury office buildings in this area of Lower
Manhattan.

Additional previously identified historic resources in the project site located outside of the
Fulton-Nassau Historic District include the following:

Royal Baking Powder Company (100 Fulton Street; a.k.a.135-141 William Street)(S/NR-
eligible

The Royal Baking Powder Company Building at 100 Fulton Street is a 16-story brick- and
stone-clad tower on the southwest corner of Fulton and William Streets (see Figure 2B-2,
Resource 9). The lower two stories of the Neo-Renaissance-style building are clad in rusticated
stone and are each surmounted with projecting cornices and egg-and-dart motifs. Doorways are
emphasized with classical surrounds. Round-arch windows and floral medallions also decorate
the lower stories.

The structure was built in 1903 by the Royal Baking Powder Company. Bruce Price was
retained as the architect (The New York Times, February 15, 1903). Price was the designer of
several other prominent buildings in Manhattan, having designed the 1902-1903 Bank of the
Metropolis (NYCL) at 31 Union Square and contributing to the design of the 1901-1906
Knickerbocker Hotel (NYCL).

Royal Insurance Company Building (S/NR-eligible, NYCL-eligible) (150 William Street)

This full-block building at the northeast corner of Fulton and William Streets (see Figure 2B-2,
Resource 10). The building is 20 stories tall, with multiple set-backs between the 10th and 20th
story levels creating a tapered effect. The structure is faced in stone, and the first two stories
have been dressed to approximate rusticated stone blocks. Large round-arch doorways are
located along the ground floor. The Royal Insurance Company Building was constructed
between 1925 and 1926 and designed by Starrett & Van Vleck. Since its construction, the
building has been occupied by various insurance companies, financial organizations, attorneys,
and similar institutions. The building is now occupied by the Strand Bookstore among other
tenants. To the east, the building overlooks DelLury Square.

South Street Seaport Historic District & South Street Seaport District Extension (NYCL)

A portion of the project site lies within the boundaries of the South Street Seaport Historic
District and Extension (see Figure 2B-2, Resource 11). The South Street Seaport Historic
District and Extension—which is roughly bounded by Dover and Pearl Streets, Maiden Lane,
and the East River—contain the largest concentration of early 19th century commercial
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buildings in New York. The historic district encompasses several individually-listed landmarks,
including the Schermerhorn Row Block. The district also includes Greek Revival-style counting
houses of the 1830s, most built with first stories of granite, with brick above. A few of the
counting houses have stone fronts, such as the Hickson W. Field Store. By the second half of the
19th century, when the South Street area had lost its prominence in New York’s commercial life,
many buildings were converted for the wholesale Fulton Fish Market.

South Street Seaport Historic District (S/NR-Listed)

The boundaries of the S/INR-listed South Street Seaport Historic District differ somewhat from
the boundaries of the NYCL-designated South Street Seaport Historic District and Extension
(see Figure 2B-2, Resource 12). The S/NR-Listed Historic District is bounded roughly by
Fletcher, Alley, Pearl, Dover, and the East River.

Architectural Resources in the Project Site Identified by this Project

Potential historic resources in the APE were identified by the LMEPF. While many of these
resources later became part of the Fulton-Nassau Historic District, others in the APE that are not
included in the district were identified as potential historic resources. These and other potential
architectural resources surveyed by AKRF were included in an August 2007 submission to
SHPO that provided photographs and brief descriptions of each potential resource. In a comment
letter dated October 9, 2007 (see Appendix C), SHPO determined 12 of these resources eligible
for listing in the S/NR, including 4 located within the Fulton Street Corridor project site (for a
list of the resources that SHPO determined not eligible for S/NR-listing, see Appendix B). The
following architectural resources in the project site were determined S/NR-eligible as part of the
Proposed Project:

46-50 Fulton Street (S/NR-eligible)

The row of three contiguous structures located at 46-50 Fulton Street was likely built in a single
campaign during the second quarter of the 19th century (see Figure 2B-3, Resource A; and
Figure 2B-4, Photo 1). They are flat-roofed brick structures; each is three bays wide and has a
shop front at ground-story level. The structures at 50 and 48 Fulton Street are five stories in
height, while the structure at 46 Fulton Street is four stories in height. The windows throughout
the structures contain six-over-six-light double-hung wood sash and have brownstone sills and
lintels with incised rectangular patterning typical of the Greek Revival style. The upper story of
46 Fulton Street has been refenestrated with four continuous windows under a single lintel.
Change in brick type at eaves level suggests a recent alteration to the upper portion of the row.
Iron star and diamond-shaped tie rods are visible on the facades. A metal fire escape links 46
and 48 Fulton Street.

The New York Times reported that the building at 46 Fulton Street was sold in 1868 and later
reports suggest that the building was used for both residential and commercial purposes. The
structure at 48 Fulton Street was likely constructed at the same time and Valentine’s Manuals of
the Corporation of the City of New York dating to the 1860s show that William K. Edgerton, a
school trustee and clerk, both lived and worked on the property at that time. Many books dating
to the 1860s were published by Richard Brinkerhoff, who also ran a business from the building.
In the early 1850s, a fishing tackle importer and manufacturer, J.B. Crook & Co., was located at
50 Fulton Street. Several decades later, Theodore Berenson sold magazines and books at the
location, which was advertised in Publisher’s Weekly. The New York Times reported that a fire
damaged the building in 1891, at which time it was occupied by a cigar dealer, a tailor, a flavor
extract maker, and a photographer.
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90 Fulton Street (S/NR-eligible)

The five-story three-bay brick structure at 90 Fulton Street may have been constructed during
the second quarter of the 19th century (see Figure 2B-3, Resource B; and Figure 2B-4, Photo 2).
The building has a dentilled cornice of brick, and projecting window sills and molded lintels. A
metal fire escape is appended across the two western bays of the building.

Although the date of the building’s construction is not known, the structure does appear on an
1867 Dripps atlas. The style of the building, which suggests a late expression of the Greek
Revival style, suggests a possible 1840s construction date. The building was occupied by a pen
factory in 1894, but by 1913 was converted for use as a restaurant, a function that apparently
continued to characterize the building through the present. Rolfe’s Chop House occupied the
building through the 1920s, 1930s, and 1940s. In 1930, The New York Times (September 27,
1930) reported a raid that ‘netted small quantities of liquor’ at 90 Fulton Street.

96 Fulton Street (a.k.a. 140 William Street; Fidelity Building) (S/NR-eligible)

The Fidelity Building at 96 Fulton Street, on the southeast corner of Fulton and William Streets,
is a seven-story brick and stone building designed in the Neo-Georgian style (see Figure 2B-3,
Resource C; and Figure 2B-5, Photo 3). The structure has a masonry temple front featuring a
pediment supported by lonic columns and pilasters. The roof has a low parapet wall and is
surmounted by a bellcote with round-arched openings. The five-bay front facade and nine-bay
side facade are characterized by windows containing eight-over-twelve-light double-hung wood
sash, surmounted by brick lintels with pronounced stone keystones. Stone panels bearing
garlands are positioned over the tops of the windows on the sixth story.

The Fidelity Building was built for the Fidelity and Deposit Company of Maryland in 1941-2. It
was designed by Wilson C. Ely of the firm Ely & Ely (later Ely & Campbell). Ely described his
approach to architecture as ‘conservatively modern,” and designed primarily in Classical Revival
styles. The president of the New Jersey chapter of the American Institute of Architects, and the
designer of the city halls of Newark and East Orange, the New York Times (August 29, 1959)
described Ely as “a leader among America’s conservative architects.”

102-104 Fulton Street (the Fulton Chambers Building) (S/NR-eligible)

The Fulton Chambers Building, built ca. 1895 is a seven-story eight-bay structure on the south
side of Fulton Street between William and Dutch Streets (see Figure 2B-3, Resource D; and
Figure 2B-5, Photo 4). The building has a cast-iron fagade featuring pilasters, decorative panels
between story levels, and dentilled cornices both at eaves level and between the third and fourth
stories. The windows throughout the structure contain one-over-one-light double-hung sash. The
ground story retains much of the original shop front, including narrow striated cast-iron pilasters
and address plate surmounting the door.

The Fulton Chambers Building is immediately neighbored by the 15-story Downing Building, at
102-108 Fulton Street. The facade of the latter has now been altered beyond recognition.
However, both once had a similar appearance, and were designed by James M. Farnsworth. The
developer John Pettit used Farnsworth as his architect for such work as an addition to the
Bennett Building (NYCL) at 139 Fulton Street, known as the tallest cast-iron building ever
erected. In 1893, Pettit had Farnsworth design the Downing Building; two years later, the team
began work on the Fulton Chambers Building. The two buildings were constructed with
lightweight galvanized iron rather than cast iron facades (The New York Times, January 12,
2003). In 1907 The New York Times noted that several companies, all jewelry dealers and

2B-23



Fulton Corridor Revitalization Program

manufacturers, tenanted the building (March 17, 1907). The Downing Building and the Fulton
Chambers building were owned in common until 1941, when the Fulton Chambers Building was
sold by the Lansing Financial Corp. to the Northern Assurance Company (The New York Times,
June 4, 1941).

AREA OF POTENTIAL EFFECT

Previously Identified Architectural Resources

The Architectural Resources APE contains eight previously identified architectural resources,
including two that are also located within the South Street Seaport Historic District.

Fulton Street IRT Station (NYCL; S/NR-eligible)

The underground Interborough Rapid Transit Company (IRT) stations at City Hall, Fulton
Street, and Wall Street are among several under- and above-ground stations built as part of
Contract 1 of the IRT’s first subway in Manhattan (see Figure 2B-2, Resource 13). This first
section of the subway, which ran from City Hall to Grand Central Terminal and then ran west
and along Broadway to the Bronx, was built between 1899 and 1904 under the direction of Chief
Engineer William B. Parsons. The ornamentation of the stations, consisting primarily of white
tile with light-colored brick and decorative mosaic sign panels and terra-cotta and faience
plaques, was designed by Heins & La Farge. Located along Broadway between Maiden Lane
and Fulton Street, the Fulton Street Station features ceramic tile plaques of Robert Fulton’s
steamboat the Clermont. While the station as a whole is currently being improved as part of the
Fulton Street Transit Center project, its historic elements are being preserved.

33-43 Gold Street (Former Excelsior Power Company Building) (S/NR-eligible; NYCL-¢eligible)

The eight-story Excelsior Power Company Building is a brick structure designed in the
Romanesque Revival style (see Figure 2B-2, Resource 14). The structure is characterized by
large round-arch doorways and windows, rusticated stone detailing, and large panels of terra-
cotta ornamentation. A large cast-iron sign bearing the words “Excelsior Power Company” is
located above the doorway. The building was constructed in 1887-1890, designed by William
Grinnell. In 1894, the building, which according to The New York Times was occupied by
manufacturing jewelers and printers, was slightly damaged in a fire that caused a significant
amount of damage to several buildings near Front Street. In the late 20th century, the firm
Wechsler, Grasso & Menziuso were hired to renovate the former industrial building into
residences. Lamppost 93, an individually designated wall bracket lamp, is affixed to the
building.

Lamppost 93, Wall Bracket (NYCL)

Lamppost 93, a wall bracket style post, is attached to the exterior of the building at 33-43 Gold
Street (see Figure 2B-2, Resource 15). By 1913, the narrow width of streets in Lower Manhattan
led to the installation of bracket versions of lampposts on building facades. Lamppost 93 is such
an example of a lamppost bracket mounted to a building due to the narrow width of Gold Street.

Insurance Company of North America Building (S/NR-Listed) (99-101 John Street)

This limestone building, located at 101 John Street was designed by Shreve, Lamb & Harmon
(1932-33), architects of the Empire State Building (see Figure 2B-2, Resource 16). It was
constructed as the New York headquarters for the Insurance Company of North America,
America’s first insurance company, founded in Philadelphia in 1792. It was the last of the pre-
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World War Il office buildings begun in Lower Manhattan. The building has virtually no
ornament and often has been credited with introducing a new sense of Modernism to the design
of commercial skyscrapers.

211 Pearl Street (S/NR-eligible)

The five-story rowhouse at 211 Pearl Street was originally constructed was constructed circa
1832 (see Figure 2B-2, Resource 17). William Colgate, founder of the Colgate-Palmolive
Company, either built it or was one of several investors involved in its construction. Colgate
originally used the building as a warehouse, and it is one of a few Greek Revival-style structures
that survived the fire of 1835. It is three bays wide and capped with a slightly projecting brick
frieze at the cornice. There are star-shaped tie rods on the facade. Windows have stone sills and
lintels. The 211 Pearl Street building has been demolished except for the main fagade fronting
on Pearl Street, which was preserved, and will be incorporated into the new structure at 2 Gold
Street.

213 Pearl Street (S/NR-eligible)

Constructed ca. 1830, this five-story brick building along with 211 Pearl Street (only the facade
of 211 remains) are among the few Greek Revival structures that survived the fire of 1835 (see
Figure 2B-2, Resource 18). The building at 213 Pearl Street is three-bays wide. Windows have
stone sills and lintels and are one-over-one sash. At four-bays wide, it is larger than the adjacent
building at 211 Pearl Street. Windows have stone sills and lintels. Four small eyebrow windows
are located in the projecting brick frieze. The formerly adjacent 215 Pearl Street, an S/NR-
eligible structure, was recently demolished.

The following individually-designated historic architectural resources in the study area are
located within the South Street Seaport Historic District:

Schermerhorn Row Block (S/NR-listed, NYCL)

The Schermerhorn Row Block comprises 2-18 Fulton Street, 189-195 Front Street, 159-171
John Street, and 91-92 South Street (see Figure 2B-2, Resource 19). It is located within the
South Street Seaport Historic District, described above. All of the buildings within this area were
constructed between 1811 and 1849, as warehouses or counting houses for New York’s rapidly
expanding mercantile sector. The oldest buildings on the block are 191 and 193 Front Street,
both probably erected ca. 1793 but redesigned in the 19th century. The principal developer on
the block was Peter Schermerhorn, who was responsible for developing Schermerhorn Row, the
four-story brick warehouses on Fulton Street and intersecting streets that were built in the
Georgian-Federal style and were originally linked by distinctive sloping roofs with tall
chimneys. Contemporaneous with the development of Schermerhorn Row was a group of six
counting houses built on John Street, only one of which (165 John Street) survives. A.A. Low &
Brothers’ stone warehouse at 167-171 John Street (1849) represents the Greek Revival style
buildings that began to appear in the 1830s throughout New York’s business district. The brick
warehouses located at the corner of Front and John Streets are simple, Greek Revival-style
buildings constructed ca. 1835-36.

Hickson W. Field Store (S/NR-listed; NYCL) (170-176 John Street)

The Hickson W. Field Store, located on the South Side of Burling Slip, dates from 1840 and was
expanded upward in 1981-82 by the firm of Buttrick, White & Burtis (see Figure 2B-2, Resource
20). The building is a rare surviving example of a Greek Revival warehouse with an all-granite
front and a ground floor of post-and-lintel construction. The building type represents a form first
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introduced to New York in 1829 by Ithiel Town at his Tappan Store on Pearl Street
(demolished). The Tappan Store became the model for the counting houses of the next decade,
including the Hickson Field Store. At the time of its designation, the building housed the Baker,
Carver & Morrell ship’s chandlery. The structure is located within the South Street Seaport
Historic District, described above.

Architectural Resources in the APE Identified by this Project

As described above, potential historic resources in the APE were identified by the LMEPF.
While many of these resources later became part of the Fulton-Nassau Historic District, others in
the APE that are not included in the district were identified as potential historic resources. These
and other potential architectural resources surveyed by AKRF were included in an August 2007
submission to SHPO that provided photographs and brief descriptions of each potential resource.
In a comment letter dated October 9, 2007, NYSHPO determined 12 of these resources eligible
for listing in the S/NR, including 8 located within the Fulton Street Corridor APE (for a list of
the resources that NYSHPO determined not eligible for S/NR-listing, see Appendix B). The
following architectural resources in the APE were determined S/NR-eligible as part of this
project:

80 John Street Building (S/NR-eligible)

Originally called the Insurance Centre Building, this 23-story structure was built in 1926 by the
John-Gold Realty Company (see Figure 2B-3, Resource E; and Figure 2B-6, Photo 5). It was
designed by Buchman & Kahn and features a brick and limestone fagcade with a marble entrance.
It occupies the entire blockfront on the west side of Gold Street, between Platt and John Streets.
The Travelers Insurance Company purchased the building in 1947. In 1956 the building was
renovated; work included air conditioning, replacement of existing elevators with operator-less
cabs, and modernization of the building’s electrical system. The George A. Fuller Company was
the general contractor for this work and Edward E. Ashley was the engineer. During the 1990s
the building was converted to residential use.

National Board of Fire Underwriters Building (85 John Street) (S/NR-eligible)

Clinton & Russell designed 85 John Street at the northwest corner of John and Gold Streets as a
fireproof structure for the National Board of Fire Underwriters in 1926 (see Figure 2B-3,
Resource F; and Figure 2B-6, Photo 6). Granite and limestone were used on the first two stories
of the 14-story building with a rough textured buff brick on the remaining stories. All fireproof
materials were used, including metal sash and wired glass. The building was reported to have
sprinklers throughout, from the cellar to the roof. The new building was the headquarters for the
National Board and various fire insurance bodies in the city.

90-100 John Street (a.k.a. 20-24 Gold Street) (S/NR-eligible)

The 28-story building at 90-100 John Street, on the east side of Gold Street between Platt and
John Streets, was erected in 1930 (see Figure 2B-3, Resource G; and Figure 2B-7, Photo 7). The
building has numerous tiered setbacks creating a complex telescoping massing. While the lower
three stories are faced in stone, the upper stories are faced in light-colored brick. Paired windows
predominate across the building, and rectangular decorative panels are located between story
levels on each bay.

The estimated cost of the building when constructed by the Pentaboro Realty Corporation in
1930, was $2 million. The architects of the building, Springsteen & Goldhammer, were known
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for designing low-rent cooperative apartment buildings in New York City, including the United
Workers Cooperative Colony (1925-7) (NYCL) in the Bronx.

111 John Street Building (S/NR-eligible)

Designed by Buchman & Kahn (1928-1929) and built by Starrett Brothers, Inc., this 26-story
building is located at 111 John Street between Cliff and Pearl Streets (see Figure 2B-3, Resource
H; and Figure 2B-7, Photo 8). It features cliff-like setbacks that are a creative adaptation of the
massing required under the 1916 zoning law. When completed in 1928, the building set a new
record for steel construction. It took 6% weeks to erect the steel work for the building, reportedly
the fastest time ever made for such work. The Insurance Company of North America had offices
in the building until 1933 when it moved to its new building at 99 John Street.

114-120 John Street (a.k.a. 225-235 Pearl Street) (S/NR-eligible)

The 33-story building at 114-120 John Street, on the west side of Pearl Street between Platt and
John Streets, was erected in 1930 (see Figure 2B-3, Resource I; and Figure 2B-7, Photo 8). The
first 22 stories of the building are of uniform massing, while the stories above that level have
setbacks every two to three stories. The top story is decorated with simple chevron finials. While
the lower three stories are faced in stone, the upper stories are faced in light-colored brick, and
panels of metal and masonry detailing are found along the fagade.

Louis Allen Abramson designed the office and commercial building for Julian Kovacs, president
of the Platt Holding Corporation. Abramson was best known for designing hospitals and
restaurants, and was also involved in designing restaurants for the 1939 World’s Fair. Abramson
also designed the Daughters of Jacob Geriatric Center in the Bronx, and the Long Island Jewish
Hospital in New Hyde Park. His long career spanned from 1910 to 1973. On the eve of
construction, the building’s cost was estimated at $1,900,000 (The New York Times, March 29,
1930). The builders for the project were Shroder & Kopel. The building boasted a marble and
bronze arcade and twelve elevators (The New York Times, June 15, 1930).

28 Cliff Street (S/NR-eligible)

The structure at 28 CIiff Street, currently occupied at ground-floor level by Ryan Maguire’s Ale
House, is a three-bay four-story brick structure designed in what appears to be a late Greek
Revival style (see Figure 2B-3, Resource J; and Figure 2B-8, Photo 9). The building has a stone
belt course between first and second story levels, which continues onto the neighboring
structure. The structure has a flat roof; the roofline is ornamented with a brick cornice, corbelled
to suggest dentils. The windows throughout the structure, which are of progressively longer
proportions on the second, third, and fourth story, respectively, have simple stone sills and
lintels. They are occupied by wood double-hung-sash windows. The first story is characterized
by a wood-paneled commercial front, containing two doorways and a large central window.

The exact date of construction of the building is unknown, but it may date to the 1840s. By
1871, the building was the location of two hardware and cutlery merchants, William Irving and
Co. and Penniman and White, as well as a hardware house agent, C.H. Megruder. That year, The
New York Times reported that the building was damaged in a fire. Throughout the late-19th and
early-20th centuries, the building was occupied by the Abendroth & Root Manufacturing
Company, who advertised their water supply pipes and boilers in the 1888 Manual of American
Water Works. Throughout the remainder of the 20th century, a variety of businesses were
located at 28 CIiff Street, including Arthur Stillwell & Co, a company which sold essential oils,
in 1928 and Realty Buyers Reports, Inc. in 1962.
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32 CIiff Street (S/NR-eligible)

32 CIiff Street is a four-story three-bay brick-faced building with a restaurant occupying the
ground story (see Figure 2B-3, Resource K; and Figure 2B-8, Photo 9). The ground story is
faced with stone; a rosette is located at the upper corners of the vertical stone piers at each end of
the facade. A large window and doorway surmounted by an awning characterize the ground
story. A projecting belt course, which matches the neighboring buildings at 30 and 28 CIiff
Street, is located between first and second-story level. The structure has a flat roof; the roofline
is ornamented with a brick cornice, corbelled to suggest dentils. The windows throughout the
structure, which are of progressively longer proportions on the second, third, and fourth story,
respectively, have no visible sills or lintels. The windows occupying the easternmost bay of the
structure do not appear to contain window sash, while the other windows contain one-over-one-
light double-hung-sash. A metal fire escape structure is located along the facade at second-,
third-, and fourth-story levels.

Although the date of the building’s construction is not known, the structure does appear on an
1867 Dripps atlas. The design of the building, which suggests a late expression of the Greek
Revival style, suggests a possible 1840s construction date. The New York Times makes reference
to the “Old Phelps Mansion” which was located at 32 CIiff Street in the early 20th century, but it
is unclear if this is the same structure. The New York Times also notes that, like 30 Cliff Street,
32 CIiff Street was not sold between 1848 and 1929. In the early 20th century, directories and
newspaper entries show that several metal merchants occupied the building. By mid-century, the
neighborhood had become known as the Insurance district, and a variety of insurance agents
operated from 32 CIiff Street. In 1950, the Peerless Casualty insurance company remodeled the
building. In the last decades of the 20th century, several restaurants operated on the ground floor
of the building.

84 William Street Building (S/NR-eligible)

This 17-story building on the northeast corner of William Street and Maiden Lane was once the
headquarters for the Royal Insurance Company (see Figure 2B-3, Resource L; and Figure 2B-8,
Photo 10). Designed by Howells & Stokes and completed in 1907, it is classical in style, with
English Barogue elements. Where William Street meets Maiden Lane, the building has a
rounded corner with the main entrance. Modern alterations have removed the first two stories of
the building’s original three-story rusticated white marble base, as well as the two-story
entrance. Above the base, a nine-story red brick shaft with polychrome terra-cotta rises to a four-
story capital topped by a balustrade.

E. THE FUTURE WITHOUT THE PROPOSED PROJECT

Many projects are in construction or planning along Fulton Street and in the immediate vicinity
of the project site. While a number of projects involve conversion of former office buildings to
residential use, major new construction is being undertaken with the Fulton Street Transit Center
and a high-rise residential tower on a former parking lot site on Beekman Street.

In addition, emergency reconstruction of Fulton Street between Church and Water Streets and
Nassau Street between Fulton and Spruce Streets commenced in August 2007. As part of that
New York City Department of Transportation (NYCDOT) project which is being funded by the
Federal Highway Administration (FHWA), new light poles would be installed in the APE within
the Fulton-Nassau Historic District.
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ARCHAEOLOGICAL RESOURCES

Within the bounds of the project site, reconstruction of Fulton Street is likely to affect any
potential archaeological resources that may remain in the bed of Fulton Street. Without the
Proposed Project, it is assumed that none of the excavation or construction associated with the
Proposed Project would occur and archaeological resources in the project site, other than any in
the bed of Fulton Street, will remain undisturbed.

HISTORIC RESOURCES

A number of historic resources may be affected by the projects already proposed or in
construction. Reconstruction of Fulton Street (an independent City project) is ongoing.
Furthermore, a NYCDOT project with FHWA funding would replace light poles within the
APE, including the Fulton-Nassau Historic District.

The construction of the Fulton Street Transit Center will preserve and reuse the Corbin Building,
an important historic resource on Broadway just south of the APE. Along Fulton Street the
Keuffel & Esser Building is being converted to residential use. Its NYCL designation requires
that all work on the building be approved by LPC.

It is possible that resources within the study area identified above as S/NR-eligible or NYCL-
eligible may be listed on the Registers or designated as NYCLSs, respectively, in the future.

Architectural resources that are listed on the National Register or that have been found eligible
for listing are given a measure of protection from the effects of federally sponsored or assisted
projects under Section 106 of the NHPA. Although preservation is not mandated, federal
agencies must attempt to avoid adverse impacts on such resources through a notice, review, and
consultation process. State and/or National Register-listed or eligible properties are similarly
protected against impacts resulting from state-sponsored or state-assisted projects under SHPA.
Private property owners using private funds can, however, alter or demolish their properties
without such a review process. Privately-owned sites, such at the Keuffel & Esser Building,
which are NYCLs, within NYCHDs, or pending designation, are protected under the NYCL
Law, which requires LPC review and approval before any alteration or demolition can occur.

F. PROBABLE IMPACTS OF THE PROPOSED PROJECT

ARCHAEOLOGICAL RESOURCES

The following section summarizes the conclusions of the five Phase 1A archaeological
documentary studies corresponding to the five archaeological APEs for this project. In a
comment letter dated July 6, 2007, LPC concurred with the conclusions of the Phase 1A studies
for Burling Slip (November 2006); DeLury Square (April 2007); Titanic Memorial Park (May
2007); and the Corridor Street Improvements (March 2007). In response to the separate
submission of the Pearl Street Playground Phase 1A (August 2007) and the Gold Street Addition
Addendum to the Corridor Street Improvements Phase 1A (August 2007), LPC issued a
comment letter dated September 13, 2007, in which they deferred to SHPO on these reports. In a
subsequent comment letter dated September 28, 2007, SHPO concurred with the conclusions of
all five Phase 1A documentary studies completed for the project.
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BURLING SLIP

The Burling Slip APE is considered sensitive for historic-period resources below roughly two feet
below ground surface (see Figure 2B-14). Project-related impacts are expected to extend between four
and eight to ten feet below ground surface in portions of the APE. Where impacts are expected to
exceed two feet in depth, historic-period archaeological resources could be impacted. An archaeological
field testing program is being conducted in Burling Slip in coordination with LPC and SHPO.

DELURY SQUARE

The DeLury Square APE has no archaeological sensitivity above 10 feet below ground surface
(see Figure 2B-14). The proposed project is expected to involve impacts of no more than four feet
below grade across most of the APE, with the exception of the installation of a pump for a water
feature, which would require excavation up to 10 feet below ground surface, could also occur. The
pump would be installed in a portion of the APE that was previously disturbed to more than 12 feet
below ground surface. Therefore, archaeological resources would not be impacted, and no further
study would be necessary. If project plans change and excavation below 10 feet in depth is planned
in locations sensitive for archaeological resources, an archaeological field testing program, to be
designed in consultation with SHPO and LPC, would be required.

TITANIC MEMORIAL PARK

The Titanic Memorial Park APE was found to have sensitivity for historic-period resources deeper
than five feet below ground surface (see Figure 2B-14). Because proposed project-related construction
is not expected to have impacts deeper than four feet below ground surface, no impacts to
archaeological resources in the Titanic Memorial Park APE are anticipated. However, if development
plans change and impacts will extend more than five feet below grade, an archaeological field testing
program, to be designed in consultation with SHPO and LPC, would be recommended.

PEARL STREET PLAYGROUND

The Pearl Street Playground APE was found sensitive for historic-period archaeological resources
deeper than five feet below grade in the existing playground, and deeper than three feet below the
ground surface of adjacent streets and sidewalks (see Figure 2B-14). Proposed Project-related
construction is expected to have impacts up to four feet below ground surface within the existing Pearl
Street Playground, and therefore, no archaeological impacts are expected in this area. The proposed
depth of project-related construction in the street and sidewalk areas of the APE is not currently
known. If impacts do not extend to archaeologically sensitive areas (three to five feet, depending on
location, as described above) no archaeological impacts are anticipated. However, if impacts in the
street and/or sidewalk areas will extend into sensitive areas, an archaeological field testing program, to
be designed in consultation with SHPO and LPC, would be recommended.

CORRIDOR STREET IMPROVEMENTS

The depth of impacts anticipated in connection with Proposed Project-related construction in the
Corridor Street Improvements APE, including curb improvements and the installation of
sidewalk furniture, is not yet determined. If project-related construction will not occur to depths
determined sensitive in those areas with archaeological potential (see Figure 2B-14), no impacts
are expected and no further work is required. However, if construction would occur in areas and
depths identified as sensitive, an archaeological field testing program, to be designed in
coordination with SHPO and LPC, would be required.
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Table 2B-3

Archaeological Sensitivity Summary

Pre-contact

Potential Impacts by

Location Sensitivity Historic-Period Sensitivity Proposed Project
Burling Slip None Historic-period sensitivity Where excavation exceeds 2’
deeper than 2’ below below ground surface, impacts
ground surface (excluding are anticipated. An
narrow area along south archaeological field testing
edge of APE). program is required.
DeLury None Historic-period sensitivity No impacts anticipated if
Square deeper than 10-20’ below project impacts do not exceed
ground surface. 10’ below ground surface in
sensitive areas.
Titanic None Historic-period sensitivity No impacts anticipated if

Memorial Park

deeper than 5’ below
ground surface throughout
APE.

project impacts do not exceed
5" below ground surface.

Pearl Street
Playground

Remote possibility of
pre-contact sensitivity
deeper than 18’ below
ground surface.

Historic-period sensitivity
deeper than 3’ below
ground surface in the

following locations: Little

Pearl St; Fulton St (outside
former Block 95); Beekman
St at Pearl St. Historic-
period sensitivity deeper
than 5’ below ground
surface in the following
locations: Pearl St
Playground; Fulton St
(within former Block 95).

No impacts are expected if
project impacts do not exceed
3’ below ground surface in
Little Pearl St and in Fulton St
(outside former Block 95); and
do not exceed 5’ below ground
surface in Pearl St Playground
and in Fulton St (in former
Block 95).

Corridor
Streetbeds

Pre-contact sensitivity
limited to 2 locations in
APE: (1) Inter-section
of Pearl and Fulton Sts
(deeper than 7' below
ground surface) and
(2) Intersection of Gold
and Beekman Sts
(deeper than 5.5
below ground surface).

Historic-period sensitivity in
areas not disturbed by
subway construction and
development. Depths of
sensitivity begin at 3, 5',
and 10’ below ground
surface, depending on
location.

If excavation occurs in
sensitive areas to depths
identified as sensitive (3’, 5, or
10’ below ground surface,
depending on location) impacts
could occur. If this occurs, an
archaeological field testing
program would be required.

ARCHITECTURAL RESOURCES

In general, the Proposed Project has been designed to enhance the context of the wealth of
historic architectural resources in the project site and study area. Potential impacts of the three

elements of the Proposed Project—streetscape
improvements and open space improvements—are described below.

STREETSCAPE IMPROVEMENTS

improvements,

facade and storefront

The proposed streetscape enhancements are designed to improve the visual appearance,
accessibility and walkability of the project site and study area. They would potentially include
new sidewalks and curbs, street furniture, street lighting fixtures, way finding signs, and
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plantings, as well as the removal of extraneous signage or other sidewalk obstructions on Nassau
Street between Fulton Street and Maiden Lane, William Street between Maiden Lane and
Beekman Street, Gold Street between Platt and Beekman Streets, Cliff Street between John and
Fulton Streets, and Pearl Street between Maiden Lane and Fulton Street.

Within the boundaries of the South Street Seaport Historic District, LMDC and the City would
make a final selection of street furniture and improvements, including light poles, in consultation
with SHPO and LPC. The Proposed Project’s new light poles would be limited to the area along
Burling Slip, where four poles would be replaced. The consultation process is designed to avoid
any potential adverse impacts to the historic district.

Streetscape improvements along Fulton Street between Gold and Pearl Streets (outside the
Fulton-Nassau Historic District) would also improve the setting of both previously identified and
project-identified historic resources. The Proposed Project would not install new light poles
within the Fulton-Nassau Historic District.

Reconfiguration of the intersection of Fulton and Gold Streets to enhance DeLury Square would
improve the setting of the Royal Insurance Company Building (S/NR-eligible, NYCL-eligible).

FACADE AND STOREFRONT IMPROVEMENTS

Grants would be provided to eligible property owners on Fulton Street between Broadway and
Water Street and on Nassau Street between Spruce Street and Maiden Lane who apply for funds
to restore building facades and improve commercial storefronts and interior space. While the
grant program is voluntary, these grants would encourage and foster the restoration of historic
buildings on these sections of Fulton and Nassau Streets. In addition they would foster
improvements to non-historic buildings which would improve the context of the historic
buildings.

The grants would be conditioned on compliance with Design Guidelines to ensure that the
improvements would be in keeping with the historic character of the area. The Design
Guidelines would be finalized following consultation with SHPO and would apply to fagade
restoration and storefront appearance with the goal of encouraging the use of unifying elements
to promote a cohesive sense of place.

The Proposed Project would also provide technical assistance to property and business owners
implementing individual projects. Specifically, the services of a historic preservationist provided
by the program administrator to ensure that the designs enhance and protect (rather than detract
from) the historic nature of the project site and study area. The improvements would be
implemented by a group of qualified contractors procured by the administrator following HUD
guidelines. Finally, an Incentives Review Panel will oversee grants. Tier 1 grants will be made
directly by the program administrator. Tier 2 and 3 grants will be subject to Incentives Review
Panel review.

The Design Guidelines and the incentives are intended to enhance historic resources. Further,
alterations to any NYCL would require the review and approval of LPC. Overall, no significant
adverse impacts to historic resources are expected from the incentives for the facade and
storefront improvement program.
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OPEN SPACE IMPROVEMENTS

Burling Slip

First, a new active use in Burling Slip would remove automobile parking on an asphalt-paved lot
which currently detracts from this open space in the South Street Seaport Historic District.
Second, this playground has been designed to reflect nautical and shipping themes in keeping
with the character of this particular historic district. As stated by the Rockwell Group in their
design brief, “Families lived downtown throughout the 19th century and there are photos of
children playing amongst the carts and boxes along the wharves.”

The shape of the proposed playground is intended to resemble a ship floating in the slip (see
Figures 1-8 and 1-9 in Chapter 1). To the west there would be a raised ramp with views to the
tall ships in East River. It would encircle a sand pit area with pulleys and ropes, recalling the
loading and unloading of cargo. Underneath the ramp is nautical rope netting for climbing. On
the east end there would be an amphitheater featuring water play. The exterior profile of the
amphitheater is designed to resemble the prow of a ship. The entrance to the playground would
be in the middle of the “ship” and level with the cobblestone pavement that resembles the
pavement found elsewhere in the South Street Seaport. The storage shed located on the north
edge of the playground is designed to resemble a smokestack on a ship. Its upper deck would be
accessible and would provide views to the East River and the City. A whispering fence would
delineate the north edge of the play area. Its funnel tubes are intended to illustrate shipboard
communication. Other elements typical of the Seaport include wooden platform benches to
match those on Fulton Street, capstan seating, lampposts in keeping with the district, the wooden
barrels for waste receptacles, cast iron (type E) water drinking fixtures, and hand pumps for
water play. Surrounding the play area there would be cobblestone paving.

The specific design for the playground was approved by LPC in a hearing on February 13, 2007.
The LPC-approved design includes adjustments to the design made in response to comments
from SHPO (letter dated December 21, 2006). To delineate the rectilinear form of the slip, a pair
of benches was placed at right angles to each other in each corner to delineate the slip. Bollards
along the south and east edges as well as the edge of the landscaping on the north are straight
lines. The number of trees was reduced from 12 to nine by eliminating the three trees at the
southwest corner of the slip. While DPR generally requires trees for shading in areas where
parents are likely to sit with their children at play, DPR believed that at this location the tall
buildings to the southwest would provide sufficient shade. DPR also believes that the trees at the
northwest corner of the slip mediate and provide a transition between the small scale buildings
of the Seaport and One Seaport Plaza, a very large-scale modern building. Trees proposed for
the northeast corner of the slip would provide a visual buffer for the service lot to the north, and
trees on the southeast corner are needed to shade seating areas. While keeping bright colors
inside the playground, black and the muted, deep red typical to the Seaport was selected for the
bollards. The deep red was also selected for the curving bench under the prow of the
amphitheater and for the wind pipes that create the whispering fence. The capstan seating would
be black.

Overall, considering the incorporation of shipping and nautical themes in the design and the
appropriateness of the design to its location as well as its use, the Burling Slip playground would
have a beneficial impact on the adjacent historic resources in the South Street Seaport.
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Titanic Memorial Park

The 3,500-square-foot open space where Titanic Memorial Park is located would be refurbished
to become an improved gateway to the South Street Seaport. Proposed improvements to seating
and landscaping are intended to create a more attractive community gathering space. The design
would also consolidate planting and seating areas to achieve a more efficient and functional
layout. A water feature is being contemplated to evoke the shoreline location prior to
development of this part of the city, which runs across this open space (see Figure 1-11 in
Chapter 1). Water could flow along the rill, meandering through boulders, creating a water play
area for children. Granite benches could be provided along the rill as seating for onlookers. The
lighthouse structure is expected to be retained in the memorial area at Fulton Street, and groups
of boulders with pockets of plantings could be used to provide seating. On the north end of the
open space, the contemplated design could provide a seating area with plantings and paths
focused toward the historic South Street Seaport buildings across Water Street. The transition
from the “water” to “upland” areas of this open space could also be marked by a change in
paving pattern, with a wavelike pattern near Fulton Street. Considering the unique features of
this open space, which recall the shoreline as early settlers found it, the proposed refurbishment
of this open space would not have a significant adverse impact on the adjacent historic resources
in the South Street Seaport.

DeLury Square

John DeLury Plaza, a small paved plaza and a small lawn located at the intersection of Fulton
Street and Gold Street, would be joined by the elimination of a traffic lane to create a unified
public space. The existing plaza and pavement of the street would be removed, while
maintaining, to the extent possible, the existing mature trees on the site. The contemplated
design includes a new water feature to provide visual interest while helping to mask traffic
noise; new plantings, arranged to provide a lush, green open space without blocking visibility;
seating to accommodate visitors, and a fence with gates at the walkway entrances to the open
space (see Figure 1-6 in Chapter 1).

The design of this open space would create a more attractive setting for the nearby historic
resources. including the Royal Insurance Company Building (S/NR-eligible, NYCL-eligible) as
well as the potential resources at 64-68 Fulton Street and 82-88 Fulton Street.

Pearl Street Playground

Since this playground is located adjacent to and facing modern buildings on Fulton Street and is
separated from the South Street Seaport by the wide and heavily trafficked Pearl Street,
improvements to the playground would enhance the project site and study area but would not
directly affect historic resources.

CONCLUSION AND SECTION 106 DETERMINATION

In conformance with NEPA and SEQRA, LMDC has fully considered the Proposed Project’s
potential impacts on historic resources, and no significant adverse environmental impacts on
historic resources are expected. On the contrary, the Proposed Project is expected to have a
positive impact on historic resources.

LMDC has also complied with the requirements of Section 106 through an assessment of
historic resources within the project site, consideration of effects on those historic resources, and
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consultation with SHPO and the City (through LPC). The Section 106 process and
environmental review (conducted pursuant to NEPA and SEQRA, as well as other applicable
laws and regulations) have been fully coordinated.

LMDC has provided opportunities for early public participation through an early notice,
published in a newspaper of general circulation and distributed to approximately 100 potentially
interested persons. The City has also conducted public outreach through a series of meetings
with potential stakeholders. LMDC will publish and distribute a notice of its findings when the
environmental review is complete.

Through this coordinated review process, LMDC has determined pursuant to Section 106 that
the Proposed Project would generally not have adverse effects on historic resources, including
archeological or architectural resources. However, because the effects on some historic resources
cannot be fully determined prior to the design and implementation of certain improvements and
excavation of certain areas with potential for archeological resources, LMDC will prepare a
Programmatic Agreement with SHPO. A draft of this agreement is attached to this
environmental assessment as Appendix C. It is expected that compliance with provisions of the
Programmatic Agreement will avoid any adverse effects. Any adverse effects that are identified
as the project is implemented will be minimized or mitigated to the maximum extent possible
and are not expected to be significant. *
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